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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Nigel Greer was the appellant in COA No. 77117-5-I, and is the 

petitioner herein, seeking reversal based on an unfair trial - wherein the trial 

court made an unconstitutional comment on the evidence that endorsed the 

accuser's testimony as true, allowed highly prejudicial evidence that the 

complainant had been sexually abused when she was a small child, 

invoking unfair sympathy that should have played no part in a fair trial, and 

admitted corroborative evidence under the "hue and cry" rule which was not 

satisfied, and which rule must be deemed invalid as a hearsay exception. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Greer seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals 

issued November 18, 2019. Appendix A. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED ON REVIEW 

1. When Mr. Greer's trial commenced with the court making a 

solicitous comment to L.S.M. before she took the stand, did the court 

comment on the evidence? 

2. L.S.M., age 13 during much of the alleged charging period, was 

allowed to testify that she had also been sexually abused by others, as a very 

young child. Did the court erroneously admit overly prejudicial evidence 

inadmissible under ER 403? 

3. Did the trial court erroneously admit a "hue and cry"? 
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4. Do the individual or cumulative errors require reversal? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Charges. Nigel Greer was charged with three counts of second 

degree sexual offenses pursuant to RCW 9A.44.076. CP 34-35. The 

charges were based on events allegedly occurring during a charging period 

of January 1, 2008 to September 1, 2009, when L.S.M., who was Mr. 

Greer's half-sister, lived with Greer's family, including his then wife 

Annaka and their infant baby. CP 34-35. Before moving to Seattle, L.S.M. 

had been living with her aunt Lorenza Arnold, in Texas. CP 2, 4, 34-35; 

2/27/18RP at 742, 754-57, 765-66. L.S.M. would later return to Texas in 

the fall of 2009, after telephoning her aunt and saying she was being 

molested. 2/27/18RP at 853; 2/28/18RP at 1262. 

2. L.S.M.'s move from Texas to Seattle. In Texas, while age 12, 

L. S .M. became upset because her aunt Lorenza described L. S .M. 's late 

mother as having been a prostitute and a drug user. 2/27/18RP at 757-58. 

When her aunt heard about L.S.M. 's concerns from friends, she was angry, 

and told L.S.M. she would have to go live with some other relative. 

2/27/18RP at 759. L.S.M. 's half-brother Nigel Greer said over the 

telephone that his family did not have much, but they could take L.S.M. in, 

in Seattle (the parties referred to Mr. Greer simply as L.S.M.'s brother). 

L.S.M. left Texas for Seattle, feeling that she had "messed up" and that her 
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aunt was "sending her away." 2/27/18RP at 759-61. She arrived in Seattle 

thinking she would never see her aunt again. 2/27/18RP at 764-65. L.S.M. 

would eventually be in Seattle for well over a year. 3/1/18RP at 1033 

(testimony of Lorenza Arnold) 

3. L.S.M.'s allegations. According to L.S.M., Mr. Greer picked her 

up at the airport, and they moved her into her room in the house, where he 

lived with Annaka and the baby. They watched television, and went for fast 

food. 2/27/18RP at 766-67. L.S.M. later began middle school, and both 

Mr. Greer and Annaka went to their work regularly. 2/27 /18RP at 7 66-67. 

L.S.M. alleged, however, that very shortly after she moved in, Mr. Greer 

had sexual intercourse with her. 2/27/18RP at 782-85. Mr. Greer allegedly 

began wrestling with L.S.M. in the living room in a friendly way, while 

they were eating Wendy's burgers. 2/27/18RP at 782-83. Then, she 

claimed, he got on top of her on the couch, pulled down her pants, and 

engaged in intercourse. 2/27/18RP at 784-85. 

L.S.M. claimed that Mr. Greer had vaginal and oral intercourse with 

her on multiple occasions while she lived in the home. 2/27 /18RP at 798-

99. This allegedly occurred in the living room, and in her room, when 

Annaka Greer was at work, or when she was asleep in the couple's 

bedroom. 2/27 /18RP at 799-800. One day, she claimed, Mr. Greer said 

that L.S.M. was his "secret girlfriend." 2/27/18RP at 834. L.S.M. alleged 
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that she was able to describe the appearance of Mr. Greer's penis and pubic 

hair, stating that his penis was circumcised and that his pubic hair seemed to 

be trimmed. 2/27/18RP at 788-89. 

4. L.S.M. 's decision to not tell anyone for a period of time. 

According to L.S.M., she considered telling various people, including 

Annaka, about her accusations when she lived with the Greer family, but 

she did not, even when questioned about whether something was going on. 

2/27/18RP at 843-44. L.S.M. admitted that she never told a school 

counselor or a teacher. 2/27/18RP at 844, 852. L.S.M. also felt that 

because she had been sexually abused as a child - this evidence having been 

admitted, to Mr,. Greer's extreme unfair prejudice - she said nothing, 

claimedly because she tolerated her experiences. 2/28/18RP at 1331. 

5. L.S.M.'s return to Texas in the Fall of 2009. During the latter 

part of L.S.M. 's time in Seattle, beginning approximately in the spring or 

summer of 2009, Mr. Greer was no longer in the home. 1 2/27/18RP at 852, 

854; 2/28/18RP at 1262. Six weeks or two months after Mr. Greer was 

jailed (on the unrelated matter) L.S.M. telephoned her aunt, and said that 

she needed money. 2/27/18RP at 853. The aunt, Lorenza Arnold testified 

that when L.S.M. said she was being sexually molested, she mailed L.S.M. 

1 The reason for Mr. Greer's absence was unrelated enjailment, which the 
jury was not told. See 2/1/18RP at 159-61; 2/28/18RP at 1333. 
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a plane ticket to return to Texas immediately. 3/1/18RP at 1033-34; 

3/6/18RP at 1054-55. L.S.M. confirmed this telephone call and her 

immediate flight from Seattle, although there was some conflict among 

witnesses as to precisely what L.S.M. said to her aunt. 2/27/18RP at 851-

53; 2/28/18RP at 1264; 2/28/18RP at 1309. 

L.S.M. then lived in Texas and subsequently New Orleans. She 

later graduated from high school in 2013. 2/27/18RP at 854. In 2014 or 

2015, L.S.M. re-connected with Annaka Greer, who was separating from 

Mr. Greer, and spoke with her about her allegations. 2/27/18RP at 856-57: 
I 

6. L.S.M. 's reporting to the King County Sheriff's Office. At 

trial, Detective John Hawkins testified that he spoke on the telephone with 

L.S.M. when she called in the late summer or the fall of 2015, and then took 

a recorded statement from her in a second phone call on September 18, 

2015. 2/27/18RP at 719-21; State's exhibit 1 (transcript). Despite the fact 

that the detective spoke with L.S.M. for an hour during the initial call, he 

only recorded the second call, and made no notations in any report about 

L.S.M.'s alleged claims in the first discussion. 2/27/18RP at 727-28; see 

also 3/6/18RP at 1064-66 (testimony of King County Sheriffs Office 

Sergeant Jose Marenco). 

7. Sentencing and appeal. At sentencing, the trial court imposed 

an indeterminate sentence of 194 months minimum, to life, followed by 
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community custody. 4/13/18RP at 1109-10. CP 77-88. The Court of 

Appeals affirmed. Appendix A (Decision). 

E.ARGUMENT 

1. COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE 

The trial court violated the strict rule against 
commenting on the evidence, by making a solicitous 
comment at the commencement of L.S.M. 's testimony 
from which the jury would infer that the court believed it 
would be difficult for L.S.M. to testify. 

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (3) where the court's 

comment met the test for comments on the evidence set by this Supreme 

Court, infra, and where the error violates our constitution, article IV, § 16. 

Contrary to the Court of Appeals' reasoning the remark implied a judgment 

by the court that L.S.M. 's testimony would be about a difficult, private 

topic - and therefore true. See Decision, at p. 7 (Appendix). 

a. The trial court reassured L.S.M., in the presence of the iury, 

that the first question would be the easiest one. Article IV,§ 16 of the 

Washington Constitution directs that 'judges shall not charge juries with 

respect to matters of fact, nor comment thereon." State v. Lane, 125 Wn.2d 

825, 838, 889 P.2d 929 (1995). 2 

2 Mr. Greer objected to the comment. RAP 2.5. In addition, a comment 
on the evidence violates the state constitution. State v. Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709, 
719-20, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006) (comments on the evidence satisfy RAP 2.5(a)(3). 
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Here, the particular facts of this case rendered the court's statement 

a "comment" that appeared to indicate to the jury the court's view of the 

merits of the charges. The State had alleged that L.S.M. had been subjected 

to illegal, wrongful sexual intercourse by the defendant, a topic that, if true, 

would not be easy for any person to speak about in front of a jury of 

strangers. Indeed, the prosecutor told the jurors in opening statement that 

L.S.M. 's recollection of abuse was painful and disorienting, and she kept it 

a secret, but she was now traveling back to Washington to tell the jury what 

occurred. 2/26/18RP at 698-700. The prosecutor told the jury that L.S.M. 

would now "tell you what her brother did to her" and although it happened 

long ago, she would tell the jury about the sexual acts and the humiliation of 

the experience. 2/26/1 SRP at 700. The case, the prosecutor said, would be 

based solely on testimony, and it would not be easy, but the jury would 

have "the word of this young woman ... who's going to come in here, tell 

you what happened to her [and] she will have no motivation to lie." 

2/26/1 SRP at 701. The State said that it was "confident that you will 

believe her." 2/26/1 SRP at 702. 

The trial court endorsed the prosecution's theme, right after L.S.M. 

took the witness stand. The court assured L. S .M. that the first question 

(asking her name) would be the easiest by far, and thereby directly implied 
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that the court understood that her remaining testimony, about the sexual 

allegations, would be difficult for her: 

THE COURT: 

THE WITNESS: 
THE COURT: 

And the first question is by far the easiest one. 
Can you just tell me your full name and spell 
your last name? 
[L.S.M.]. 
Thank you, [L.S.M.]. And the beginning part 
here is that Mr. Wong will be asking you some 
questions. 

2/27/18RP at 737. As argued infra, this was improper, irrespective of the 

fact that the court acted with the most benign subjective motivation. 

b. The trial court commented on the evidence. The subtlety, and 

indeed the gentleness, of the court's comment of concern, and the fact that it 

was made to a frightened witness, was the very combination of factors that 

would be so affecting to a lay jury. It is a fact well and universally known 

by courts and practitioners that the ordinary lay juror is highly receptive to 

the opinion of a well-respected judge on matters for decision, and such an 

opinion has great influence upon the jury's final determination of the issues. 

State v. Crotts, 22 Wash. 245, 250-51, 60 P. 403 (1900); see Levy, 156 

Wn.2d at 721. 

Therefore, under the constitutional rule, a judge must not seem to 

convey a personal attitude toward the facts of the case. Levy, 156 Wn.2d at 

721; accord State v. Jackman, 156 Wn.2d 736, 744, 132 P.3d 136 (2006). 

Here, the trial court appeared to acknowledge that the complaining 
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witness's fright was genuine, and the court appeared to show agreement 

with the prosecutor's broad theme in opening statement that L.S.M.'s 

testimony would be brave. Regardless of their subjective motivation, the 

court's words acted to convey to the jury that the court held an opinion of 

L.S.M. 's accusations, that they were true. See generally. State v. Lane, 125 

Wn.2d at 838 (standing for rule). The comment by the trial court did not 

need to be express; indeed, violative comments rarely are. Levy, 156 

Wn.2d at 721. If the lay jury is even able to "infer" from a trial court's 

comments that the court personally believes or disbelieves evidence relative 

to a disputed issue, the constitutional rule is violated. State v. Lane, 125 

Wn.2d at 838; Jankelson v. Cisel, 3 Wn. App. 139,145,473 P.2d 202 

(1970), review denied, 78 Wn.2d 996 (1971). 

In this case, with its words and actions, the court subtly but 

powerfully endorsed the State's theme that the complainant would be 

testifying about real, difficult matters that she had actually experienced. 

The defendant accordingly objected, and respectfully contended that the 

court's remark was a comment on the evidence. Counsel stated that 

[the court's comment] coupled with the manner in which 
the court made the comment understandably expresses 
sympathy for [L.S.M.]'s situation and testifying in this 
case, but I have a concern that that reflects a judgment 
about the validity of her testimony or her credibility such 
that it's a comment on her credibility to the jury[.] 
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2/27/18RP at 752. The court rejected the argument, stating, "I don't agree 

that that very minor comment, trying to help a very obviously frightened 

witness just settle into the witness stand, was a comment on the evidence." 

2/27/18RP at 752. The constitutional rule was violated here. 

c. The State cannot meet its heavy burden to overcome the 

presumption that a violation of Article 4, section 16 is a constitutionally 

reversible error, a standard which is rigorously applied. Washington 

cases "demonstrate adherence to a rigorous standard when reviewing 

alleged violations of Const. art. 4, sec 16." Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 838. 

Once it has been demonstrated that a court's remark constituted a 

comment on the evidence, a reviewing court will presume the comments 

were prejudicial unless the State meets its burden to show otherwise. State 

v. Bogner, 62 Wn.2d 247,249, 253-54, 382 P.2d 254 (1963). That burden 

cannot be met here. As counsel emphasized, this was "a case that [sic] 

which the witness's credibility is the ultimate issue for the jury to decide." 

2/27/18RP at 752. Reversal is required. 

2. OVERLY PREJUDICIAL EVIDENCE. 

The trial court erred under ER 403 in admitting evidence that 
L.S.M. was abused as a very young child by persons not 
connected to this case. 

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (2) where the 

decision was contrary to well-established tests for unfair prejudice set by 
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this Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals under ER 403. The Court of 

Appeals cited no portion of the record that shows the trial court properly 

employed the correct rule, ER 404, and even if it had, the evidence was too 

prejudicial to be admitted. See Decision, at pp. 8-9 (Appendix). 

a. Ruling. The court, over a defense pre-trial objection, ruled that 

L.S.M. would be allowed to tell the jury that she had been sexually abused 

when she was a young child. 2/1/18RP at 201-09, 2/20/18RP at 243-44. 

The prosecutor's offer of proof was that L.S.M. told Detective Hawkins that 

she had been subjected to intercourse by her cousin and his brothers, and 

had also been sexually touched by her mother's boyfriend. 2/1/18RP at 

201-02. The court accepted the State's argument in its proffer, and 

determined that L.S.M.'s prior sexual abuse was admissible as "part of the 

reason that she did not disclose" the abuse immediately 2/20/18RP at 243. 

This was correct as far as it goes, and L.S.M. indeed did state that 

the prior abuse made her believe that not saying anything about what she 

alleged Mr. Greer did was a normal course of action for her. 2/28/l SRP at 

1331. 

b. The trial court abused its discretion by applying an incorrect 

legal standard, and alternatively, by ruling in a manner that no 

reasonable court would have. Nonetheless, the court erred by denying the 

defense motion to exclude the evidence, because it was overly prejudicial. 
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It is true that a trial court's decision as to whether certain evidence is more 

probative than prejudicial under ER 403 is reviewed under the abuse of 

discretion standard. State v. Rice, 110 Wn.2d 577, 599-600, 757 P.2d 889 

(1988). However, first, the court employed the wrong legal standard, which 

is always an abuse of discretion. 

(i). Wrong legal standard. A trial court abuses its discretion if it 

applies an incorrect legal standard in adjudging the evidentiary admissibility 

of testimony. See State v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647,654, 71 P.3d 638 

(2003); State v. Hawkins, 157 Wn. App. 739,752,238 P.3d 1226 (2010) 

(discussing legal error abuse of discretion). 

Here, the prosecutor and defense counsel noted that the issue was 

one of unfair prejudice under ER 403. 1/31/18RP at 85-86, 2/1/18RP at 

201-02; 2/20/18RP at 244. And specifically, Mr. Greer argued that the 

issue under ER 403 concerned the prejudice of influencing the jury to 

decide the case out of sympathy to the complainant, rather than making a 

factual determination based upon the evidence. 2/1/18RP at 205. 

The defense argument invoked ER 403 's core definition of 

prejudicial evidence as evidence that tends to promote a jury decision based 

on emotion rather than rationality. See 1 JACK B. WEINSTEIN & 

MARGARET A. BERGER, EVIDENCE§ 403[03], at 403-36 (1985). 
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However, the court on two different days of pre-trial argument 

mistakenly viewed the question as one of propensity prejudice to the 

defense lawyer's client. 2/1/18RP at 202, 2/20/18RP at 244. The court 

reasoned that the evidence had limited prejudicial effect "in that it does not 

allow for any inference that Mr. Greer committed these offenses." 

2/20/l 8RP at 244. 

ER 403 is concerned with propensity prejudice, as applied in the 

context of ER 404(b) evidence. See, e.g., State v. Powell, 126 Wn. 2d 244, 

264, 893 P.2d 615, 627 (1995) (citing Comment, ER 404(b)). But more 

broadly, the Rule provides: 

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its 
probative value is substantially outweighed by the 
danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or 
misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue 
delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of 
cumulative evidence. 

ER 403. As the defense argued, the issue was whether this evidence would 

encourage the jury to decide the case without rationality, by "painting a 

portrait of the alleged victim in this case is someone who's been victimized 

in the past by people who have not been held accountable." 2/1/18RP at 

205-06. The trial court erred as a matter oflaw in interpreting the meaning 

of "prejudice" under Evidence Rule ER 403 as propensity prejudice. 3 

3 The discussions held by the court with the parties, regarding a limiting 
instruction as to the prior abuse supports rather than detracts from the argument 
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(ii). Untenable decision. Alternatively, the court abused its 

discretion by entering an untenable ruling. The court should have excluded 

L.S.M.'s testimony under ER 403 because its probative value was 

outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. It is true that evidence is not 

inadmissible under ER 403 simply because it is detrimental or harmful to 

the interests of the party opposing its admission; however, evidence is 

unfairly prejudicial if it has the tendency to skew the truth-finding process. 

State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 12-13, 659 P.2d 514 (1983). 

Here, L. S .M. 's testimony was unfair! y harmful to Mr. Greer's case, 

because it would naturally appeal to jurors' instinctual sympathies, rather 

than promote rational decision as to the guilt of the defendant based on 

facts. Carson v. Fine, 123 Wn.2d 206,223, 867 P.2d 610 (1994). 

Further, the emotional impact of the evidence, in comparison to the 

purported purpose of the evidence to explain a delay in reporting when in 

fact there was little if any delay in reporting, rendered the prior abuse not 

materially significant in the context of the litigation. State v. Kendrick, 47 

Wn. App. 620,628, 736 P.2d 1079 (1987). The trial court abused its 

discretion. 

that the court improperly focused only on propensity-type prejudice. The court 
indicated that an instruction should tell the jury that the prior abuse was not 
evidence that Mr. Greer was guilty of the present sexual offenses. See 2/1/18RP at 
206; 2/20/18RP at 244. 
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3. "HUE AND CRY" ALLOWED PURE HEARSAY. 

The court abused its discretion by admitting hearsay evidence as 
"hue and cry" which is pure hearsay, and the testimony here 
was inadmissible even if the rule is proper. 

L.S.M. 's testimony was given inadmissible corroboration by virtue 

of "hue and cry" that must be deemed an invalid hearsay exception based on 

more authoritative case law of this Court, and which was not, in any event, 

met here given the extended period of time. This was pure hearsay, and 

review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(l),(2); see State v. Martinez, No. 

77776-9-1, 2019 WL 2751295, at *3 (Wash. Ct. App. July 1, 2019) 

(rejecting argument that hue and cry has no valid basis in the hearsay rules) 

(unpublished, cited pursuant to GR 14.1), review granted, No. 97496-9, 

2019 WL 6318165 (Wash. Nov. 25, 2019). 

a. Evidence that L.S.M. telephoned her aunt and said she was 

being molested, at the end of the charging period, and approximately 6 

weeks to two months after Mr. Greer had left the Greer house for good, 

was not a timely complaint for purpose of the "hue and cry" rule. 

Hearsay is prohibited absent an exception. ER 801, ER 803. However, an 

exception is that in criminal trials for sex offenses, the prosecution may 

present evidence that the victim complained to someone after the alleged 

assault. State v. DeBolt, 61 Wn. App. 58, 63, 808 P.2d 794 (1991); State v. 
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Ferguson, 100 Wn.2d 131,135,667 P.2d 68 (1983). Here, however, the 

rule allowing such evidence was not satisfied. 

(i). Court's decision. There was no delay in reporting. The call was 

therefore made at the "tail end" (in the State's words) ofL.S.M.'s time of 

what was at least a year, if not a year and many months, in Seattle. 

2/1/18RP at 158. This was consistent with the timing described by the aunt, 

Lorenza Arnold's, trial testimony, where she testified that L.S.M. 's 

telephone call from Seattle stating that she had been sexually molested, was 

followed by Arnold sending L.S.M. a plane ticket for L.S.M. to return to 

Texas immediately. 3/1/18RP at 1033-34; 3/6/18RP at 1054-55. 

Further, six weeks to two months had passed since Mr. Greer was 

gone from the house, until L.S.M. telephoned her aunt. L.S.M. 's telephone 

call to her aunt was made after Mr. Greer had been out of the home, since 

late May of the spring of 2008. During initial argument, the period of time 

between Greer being gone and L.S.M. calling her aunt was described as a 

period of months from spring to late summer, as two months, and also as six 

weeks, although this latter, shorter period of time was primarily discussed 

with regard to the different issue of the stipulation that would be crafted so 

that the jury would not learn that Mr. Greer was in jail. 2/1/18RP at 162-67. 

(ii). Not timely. No court in Washington has ever found a 

complaint, made up to a year or more after the alleged incident, to be 

16 



"timely" for purposes of this hearsay exception. See State v. Debolt, 61 

Wn. App. at 60 (complaint was made the next day); State v. Ragan, 22 Wn. 

App. 591,596,593 P.2d 815 (1979) (complaint was made one hour after 

incident); State v. Myrberg, 56 Wash. 384, 105 Pac. 622 (1909) (complaint 

made fifteen to twenty days after incident). Even if the pertinent period of 

time is considered to be the six weeks to two months after Mr. Greer was 

removed from the home in late May, these cases, supra, show that there is 

still no reasonable application of the rule to these facts. 

(iii). Regardless of the time period, "hue and cry" is an invalid 

exception to the hearsay bar. The reliability of Ferguson-type hue and cry 

evidence stems from a short passage of time since the incident which makes 

it less likely that the accusation was fabricated. State v. Murley, 35 Wn.2d 

233, 237, 212 P.2d 801 (1949). This evidence notion has no basis in the 

Evidence Rules. See Martinez, supra. Where the complaint is untimely, the 

notion is unmoored from any conception of competent evidence in a court 

of law. Here, L.S.M. 's call to her aunt followed a lengthy period of 

deliberation whether to speak of the allegations. The prosecutor admitted 

that L.S.M. 's report to her aunt came after such a long period of weeks in 

which Mr. Greer was already out of the house, because L.S.M. would have 

felt it "awkward" to discuss or report the matter. 2/1/l 8RP at 165-66. And 

according to L.S.M. she considered telling various people about her 
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accusations multiple times throughout the period she lived with the Greer 

family. L.S.M. considered telling Annaka Greer what was going on 

"because she asked me at one point." 2/27/18RP at 843. L.S.M. wanted to 

say something, but she could not do so because it was hard to talk about. 

2/27 /18RP at 843-44. For the same reasons, L.S.M. never told a teacher; 

she was worried about whether she would be believed, and whether she 

would be sent to a foster home. 2/27 /18RP at 844, 852. 

The "hue and cry" rationale is invalid, particularly to the degree it 

has been extended by the Washington courts. As the Court stated in Griffin, 

evidence of a complaint that is no longer timely "ceases to have 

corroborative force" such that the hearsay bar is overcome. State v. Griffin, 

43 Wash. 591, 598, 86 P. 951 (1906). Hue and cry was not established by a 

claim made by L.S.M. to her aunt after considered, repeated reflection as to 

whether it was or was not the right time to make the accusation. It may be 

understandable, and excusable, that a person might wait a period of time to 

disclose abuse, if it occurred. But, as Mr. Greer argued, such a disclosure 

fails to meet the requirements of this hearsay exception. 2/1/18RP at 164-

64. The trial court's decision to admit this evidence, considering all the 

circumstances, was manifestly unreasonable and based on untenable 

grounds. See State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12,482 P.2d 775 

(1971). 

18 



4. THE ERRORS REQUIRE REVERSAL. 

The errors require reversal, or in the alternative, the cumulative 
prejudice of the errors requires reversal under Due Process. 

A trial court's evidentiary error is reversible if it prejudices the 

defendant. State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389,403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). 

Error is deemed prejudicial where, within reasonable probabilities, the 

outcome would have been different but for the error. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 

at 403. With regard to a comment on the evidence, the "burden rests on the 

state to show that no prejudice resulted to the defendant unless it 

affirmatively appears in the record that no prejudice could have resulted 

from the comment." Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 838-39. The State must point to 

those portions of the record that affirmatively show that no prejudice could 

have resulted. Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 838-39. 

Each of the errors assigned requires reversal individually. However, 

in the alternative, the errors require reversal under the cumulative error 

doctrine. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), cert. denied, 

514 U.S. 1129 (1995); State v. Alexander, 64 Wn. App. 147, 822 P.2d 1250 

(1992) (cumulative prejudice can be so significant as to prejudice the right 

to a fair trial, and therefore require reversal under Due Process); U.S. Const. 

amend. 14. In this case, the court's solicitous remark to L.S.M. as she took 

the witness stand, which was a comment on the evidence, expressed an 
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apparent view of the believability of what the prime witness at trial was to 

testify to. This conveyed the court's seeming attitude toward the ultimate 

issue. Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 838; State v. Hansen, 46 Wn. App. 292, 300, 

730 P.2d 706, 737 P.2d 670 (1986). L.S.M.'s testimony was the core of the 

State's case on that issue. It was, however, bolstered by "hue and cry" 

which meets no valid rule or rationale. Then, L. S .M. 's testimony was also 

prejudicially allowed to include a recounting of prior abuse as a small child. 

L.S.M. testified to this abuse in a manner that would cause any person to 

have deep sympathy for her as a past victim. 2/27/18RP at 744. And 

indeed, at the end of trial, the prosecutor relied on the past abuse as showing 

that "this is all [L.S.M.] had known," in closing argument. 3/6/18RP at 

1160-61. This evidence was overly prejudicial as it strongly encouraged a 

decision out of emotion. For all these reasons, reversal is required. 

F. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, Mr. Greer requests that this Supreme Court 

accept review, and reverse his convictions and remand to the trial court. 

Respectfully submitted this 17th day of December, 2019. 

s/ OLIVER R. DA VIS 
Washington Bar Number 24560 
Washington Appellate Project-91052 
Attorneys for Petitioner 
1511 Third A venue, Suite 610 
Seattle, WA 98102 
Telephone: (206) 587-2711 
E-mail: Oliver@washapp.org 
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VERELLEN, J. - A jury convicted Nigel Greer of three counts of rape of a 

child in the second degree.. He claims the trial court impermissibly commented on 

the evidence and challenges several evidentiary rulings. He also challenges 

several conditions of community custody imposed at sentencing. We affirm 

Greer's convictions but remand for the court to strike conditions of community 

custody numbers 5, 12, and 16. 

FACTS 

In 2015, 20-year-old L.S.M., who was living in Louisiana, called the King 

County Sheriff's Office to report that she had been repeatedly sexually abused by 

Nigel Greer during a period of time when she lived with him in the Seattle area as 

a young teenager. 
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Two years later, in 2017, the State charged Greer with three counts of 

second degree rape of a child. 1 The State alleged that the sexual assaults took 

place between January 1, 2008 and September 1, 2009. 

According to the testimony at Greer's trial, the incidents took place during 

the period of approximately one year when L.S.M. lived with Greer, his then­

girlfriend Annaka, and their infant child in an apartment in Skyway.2 L.S.M. had a 

complicated and difficult history prior to her arrival in Washington. When she was 

seven years old and living in California with her mother and one of her brothers, 

L.S.M.'s mother passed away. After her mother's de.ath, L.S.M. stayed with 

different relatives on a short-term basis and eventually went to live in New Orleans 

with Lorenza Arnold, a great aunt she had never met. Approximately two years 

later, L.S.M. and Arnold were displaced by Hurricane Katrina and relocated to 

Texas. 

L.S.M. has 12 half-siblings, including Greer, wl'lo is approximately 20 years 

older than L.S.M. L.S.M. met Greer on a few occasions before her mother passed 

away. When L.S.M. was about 12 years old and living in Texas, she reached out 

to Greer, and they began to talk regularly over the telephone. 

According to L.S.M., around the same time, her previously good 

relationship with her aunt became strained. As a result of a misunderstanding, 

Arnold told L.S.M. she could move to Washington to live with Greer, who had 

1 The State initially charged Greer with a single count. 
2 To avoid confusion, we refer to Annaka Greer by her first name. 

2 



No. 78291-6-1/3 

agreed to take her in. At the time, L.S.M. felt that her aunt was sending her away, 

not merely giving her the option. When she left Texas, L.S.M. did not think she 

would be welcome to return to her aunt's household.3 Although upset about the 

situation with Arnold, L.S.M. was also excited by the prospect of getting to know 

an older brother. 

L.S.M. arrived in Seattle in early July 2008. She was a petite 13-year-old 

and was about to enter the eighth grade. 

According to L.S.M., the reunion with Greer initially went well. However, the 

day after she arrived, Greer raped her. L.S.M. testified that she and Greer were 

alone in the apartment after he returned from work, and they began playing and 

wrestling. Greer pinned L.S.M. on the couch, then removed her pants and had 

vaginal intercourse with her. L.S.M. did not resist or try to get away. She "zoned 

out and waited for it to be finished."4 After ejaculating on her stomach, Greer told 

L.S.M. to clean herself up. When L.S.M. came out of the bathroom, Greer was 

playing a video game and said nothing about what happened. A few days later, 

when L.S.M. and Greer were alone, Greer mentioned that L.S.M. did not bleed 

and asked about her prior sexual experience. 

3 L.S.M.'s aunt remembered the departure differently. Arnold testified that 
L.S.M.'s decision to move was not based on any discord but simply on the desire 
of L.S.M. and Greer to know each better. Since Arnold was not L.S.M.'s legal 
guardian, she felt she could not prevent her from going to live with him. 

4 Report of Proceedings (RP) (Feb. 27, 2018) at 797. 
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L.S.M. testified that during the 10 months that followed, Greer sexually 

assaulted her three or four times a week, and more frequently if Annaka was 

menstruating. L.S.M. said it usually happened at night, after Annaka and the baby 

went to sleep. In addition to the first incident, L.S.M. described numerous specific 

incidents of abuse, including incidents of anal and oral intercourse. 

During the year she lived in Seattle, L.S.M. did not tell anyone about the 

abuse, even though she had her own telephone, attended school, and had fairly 

regular contact with her aunt. She feared that she would be placed in foster care 

or that she would become the target of Greer's violence. While she did not display 

any overt resistance, she wore baggy clothing as "protection" and did not do 

anything that would make herself attractive. 

Greer was absent from the household for a period of time starting in May 

2009.5 Around six weeks to eight weeks after he left, L.S.M. called Arnold and told 

her that she had been "molested."6 L.S.M. seemed to be "nervous" and 

"frightened" during the telephone call.7 Arnold purchased an airplane ticket and 

arranged for L.S.M. to return to Texas within a few days. 

L.S.M. was greatly relieved to leave and to be reunited with her aunt, but 

she was still reluctant to reveal exactly what happened and struggled to adjust. In 

5 Greer was incarcerated in jail, but in accordance with the parties' 
stipulation, the State presented only evidence that Greer was living out of the 
home for a period of time and not expected to return, and did not elicit evidence 
about his incarceration. 

6 RP (Mar. 1, 2018) at 1044. 

7 19..:. 
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2015, she reconnected with Annaka, who had separated from Greer, and who 

encouraged her to make a police report. 

At trial, Greer did not testify or present any witnesses. The jury convicted 

Greer as charged. The court imposed an indeterminate standard range sentence 

with a minimum term of 194 months. Greer appeals. 

ANALYSIS 

Comment on the Evidence 

Greer argues that his convictions must be reversed because the trial court 

improperly commented on the evidence. 

L.S.M. was the State's primary witness. After the trial court judge swore her 

in and directed her to be seated at the witness stand, the court stated, "And the 

first question is by far the easiest one. Can you just tell me your full name and 

spell your last name?"8 L.S.M. provided her full name, and the court informed her 

that her testimony would begin with questions from the prosecutor. 

Before the jury returned following the first break in L.S.M.'s testimony, 

defense counsel moved for a mistrial, arguing that although it was likely not the 

court's intent, the comment about the first question being the easiest 

communicated an opinion about L.S.M.'s credibility and the "validity" of her 

testimony.9 The court denied the motion, stating that the "very minor comment, 

8 RP (Feb. 27, 2018) at 744. 
9 ill at 759. 
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trying to help an obviously frightened witness just settle into the witness stand" 

was not a comment on the evidence. 10 

Greer contends that a mistrial was warranted because, regardless of the 

court's subjective motivations, the court "subtly but powerfully endorsed" the 

State's argument that L.S.M. would be testifying about "difficult matters that she 

actually experienced."11 

Article IV, section 16 of the Washington Constitution states that "O]udges 

shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but 

shall declare the law." In other words, judges are prohibited from commenting on 

the evidence. 12 A statement by the court constitutes a comment on the evidence if 

a jury can infer the court's attitude toward the merits of the case or its evaluation of 

a disputed issue.13 If the trial court does comment on the evidence, those 

comments are presumed prejudicial. 14 

None of the cases Greer cites are factually analogous. 15 And we are 

unpersuaded that, viewed in context, the court's isolated remark about the first 

10 kl at 760. 
11 Appellant's Br. at 
12 State v. Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709, 721, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). 
13 State v. Lane, 125 Wn.2d 825, 838, 889 P.2d 929 (1995). 
14 Levy, 156 Wn.2d at 723. 
15 See Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 837 (court's oral comment on a disputed 

evidentiary issue improperly removed issue from the jury's determination); see 
also Levy, 156 Wn.2d at 721 (instruction that factual matters were established as a 
matter of law). 
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question being the "easiest" was anything other than a mere pleasantry. The 

court's statement neither expressed nor implied a judgment with regard to her 

anticipated testimony or L.S.M.'s credibility. 

The trial court specifically instructed the jurors that they were the sole 

judges of credibility, that the court could not comment on the evidence, that it had 

not intentionally done so, and that the jury should disregard any comment by the 

trial court that, in the jury's estimation, appeared to be a comment on the 

evidence. These instructions militated against any possibility that the jury 

misconstrued the court's remark as a comment on the evidence. 16 To be sure, it is 

conceivable that under more extreme circumstances, a court's statements or 

conduct aimed at reassuring a complaining witnesses could rise to the level of 

conveying a personal opinion about the veracity of the victim's allegations. Those 

circumstances are not present here. 

Evidence of Prior Sexual Abuse 

Greer argues that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing the State 

to present unfairly prejudicial evidence that L.S.M. experienced sexual abuse as a 

young child. In accordance with the court's pretrial ruling, the State did not ask 

16 See State v. Elmore, 139 Wn.2d 250, 276, 985 P.2d 289 (1999) (same 
instruction cured any potential article IV, section 16 violation where the defendant 
appeared in shackles during voir dire); accord State v. Ciskie, 11 O Wn.2d 263, 
283,751 P.2d 1165 (1988). 
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L.S.M. about the details of the abuse. L.S.M. testified only that the perpetrators 

were "strangers, friends, [her] mother's boyfriends, family members."17 

Under ER 403, relevant "evidence may be excluded if its probative value is 

substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, 

or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or 

needless presentation of cumulative evidence." We review a trial court's ruling on 

the admissibility of evidence for a manifest abuse of discretion.18 We will overturn 

the court's determination on relevance or prejudice only if no reasonable person 

would adopt the same view as the court. 19 

Greer argues that the trial court applied the wrong legal standard. He 

maintains the evidence was not relevant and unfairly appealed to the jury's 

sympathies and encouraged a decision based on emotion, rather than the 

evidence. 

The record does not support the contention that the trial court applied 

ER 404(b), pertaining to the admission of evidence of prior bad acts, instead of 

ER 403. Both parties presented arguments under ER 403, and the court expressly 

acknowledged that ER 404(b) did not apply. The court's assessment that the 

prejudice to Greer was "limited," largely because the evidence of prior abuse did 

not implicate him, does not suggest any confusion about which rule applied. The 

17 RP (Feb. 27, 2018) at 751. 
18 State v. Johnson, 185 Wn. App. 655,670,342 P.3d 338 (2015). 
19 Jj;L_ at 670-71 (quoting State v. Posey. 161 Wn.2d 638,648, 167 P.3d 560 

(2007)). 
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evidence was relevant because it helped to explain why, for many months when 

L.S.M. lived in Greer's household, she took no overt actions to stop the rapes and 

did not reveal the abuse. L.S.M. explained at several points that she had 

internalized the victimization: 

[T]elling somebody just was not an option for so many reasons, 
whether it was safety, whether it was shame, whether it's because I 
felt like I deserved it, so I suffered in silence, it just-why not? I've 
been doing it all my life. It's the norm. It's the expectation. Just lay 
there and take it.r201 

The record demonstrates that the trial court properly weighed the evidence 

and concluded that its probative value was not substantially outweighed by its 

prejudicial impact. Particularly in light of the limited nature of the evidence, the 

trial court's ruling was not an abuse of discretion. 

Fact of Complaint 

Greer also challenges the trial court's admission of Arnold's testimony 

recounting L.S.M.'s statement in the July 2009 telephone conversation that she 

had been "molested." 

The trial court admitted the testimony under the "fact of complaint" rule, also 

known as the "hue and cry" doctrine, which allows the State in criminal sexual 

assault cases to present evidence that the victim complained to someone within a 

reasonable time after the assault.21 The rationale for this doctrine is to dispel the 

feudal notion that a person who does not disclose shortly after being sexually 

20 RP (Feb. 28, 2018) at 1331. 
21 State v. Ferguson, 100 Wn.2d 131,144,667 P.2d 68 (1983). 
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assaulted must be fabricating the story.22 "The evidence is not hearsay because it 

is introduced for the purpose of bolstering the victim's credibility and is not 

substantive evidence of the crime."23 

For a disclosure to be admissible under the rule, it must be made within a 

reasonable amount of time after the assault.24 Greer argues that L.S.M.'s 

statement to Arnold was not timely, as required by the exception. He points out 

that L.S.M. did not mention the abuse until approximately a year after the assaults 

allegedly began and until at least a month after he was no longer residing in the 

home. 

We review a trial court's interpretation of an evidentiary rule de novo as a 

question of law and review the decision to admit evidence for an abuse of 

discretion.25 An abuse of discretion occurs when '"the trial court's decision is 

manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons, such as a 

misconstruction of a rule."'26 

As the trial court ruled, the relevant interval for determining whether 

L.S.M.'s complaint was timely was the interval between Greer's arrest and the 

telephone call. Due to violence in the home and safety considerations, Greer's 

22 State v. Bray, 23 Wn. App. 117, 121-22, 594 P.2d 1363 (1979). 
23 kl at 121. 
24 Ferguson, 100 Wn.2d at 135-36; State v. Chenoweth, 188 Wn. App. 521, 

532, 354 P.3d 13 (2015). 
25 State v. Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d 916, 921-22, 337 P.3d 1090 (2014). 
26 kl at 922 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. Brown, 132 

Wn.2d 529, 572, 940 P.2d 546 (1997)). 
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departure from the household presented L.S.M.'s first viable opportunity to 

complain. The court determined that, according to the record, Greer was arrested 

on May 24, 2009, and the telephone call occurred sometime in July. The court 

further determined that although there were a "number of weeks" between Greer's 

departure and the disclosure, the complaint was timely under the circumstances, 

given L.S.M.'s age and the likelihood that she would feel compelled to "wait and 

see if Mr. Greer going to stay in jail."27 

Greer insists that a disclosure made more than a month following an 

incident of abuse cannot be considered timely under the hue and cry doctrine. But 

he cites no authority that persuasively supports this position. For instance, in 

State v. DeBolt, the court admitted the testimony about a disclosure which 

occurred the day after a specific incident of abuse.28 However, the abuse had 

been ongoing for several years before the incident that spurred the disclosure. 

Although our case law has not defined a bright line rule for the timing of the 

disclosure under the hue and cry doctrine, longer delays have been held to be 

untimely.29 

Greer also claims that, regardless of the specific length of time, L.S.M.'s 

complaint was inadmissible because she had an opportunity to deliberate and 

27 RP (Feb. 1, 2018) at 200. 
28 61 Wn. App. 58, 60, 808 P.2d 794 (1991). 
29 See Chenoweth, 188 Wn. App. at 533 (disclosure nearly a year after 

assault was not reasonably timely); see also State v. Griffin, 43 Wash. 591, 598, 
86 P. 951 (1906) (complaint six months after assault was not sufficiently timely). 

11 
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reflect that is incompatible with the purpose of the hue and cry doctrine. But lack 

of opportunity to deliberate is not a criteria for admission under the hue and cry 

rule; "evidence of the complaint should be excluded whenever from delay or 

otherwise it ceases to have corroborative force."30 The trial court did not abuse its 

discretion in its assessment that L.S.M.'s disclosure was corroborative, and we 

reject the invitation to import standards applicable to the excited utterance 

exception to the hearsay rule. 31 

Even assuming L.S.M.'s disclosure to Arnold was not timely and therefore 

not admissible under the fact of complaint rule, any error was harmless. 

Evidentiary error is grounds for reversal only if, within reasonable probabilities, the 

error affected the outcome of the trial.32 "Improper admission of evidence 

constitutes harmless error if the evidence is of minor significance in reference to 

the evidence as a whole."33 Arnold's testimony did not materially affect the 

outcome. Consistent with the limitations of the hue and cry doctrine, Arnold 

testified only as to the fact of complaint. She reported no details beyond the fact 

that L.S.M. said she had been molested. While corroborative, Arnold's testimony 

was of relatively minor significance in view of L.S.M.'s detailed and extensive 

30 Griffin, 43 Wash. at 598. 
31 See State v. Davis, 141 Wn.2d 798, 843, 10 P.3d 977 (2000) (excited 

utterance exception is based on the theory that a spontaneous reaction is unlikely 
to be the result of conscious fabrication). 

32 State v. Neal, 144 Wn.2d 600, 611, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001). 
33 ~ 
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testimony about the assaults and the corroboration provided by Annaka's 

testimony and other aspects of Arnold's testimony. And admission of L.S.M.'s 

complaint to Arnold in July 2009 did not prevent the defense from arguing that 

during the year she lived in Seattle, L.S.M. had the means and opportunity to 

report what was happening to numerous people. 

ER 404(b) Evidence 

Greer next claims the trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence 

of prior bad acts under ER 404(b). 

Evidence of a person's prior bad acts is generally not admissible to prove 

that he acted in conformity with his character on a particular occasion.34 However, 

evidence of a person's prior acts may be admissible for other purposes, including 

to prove motive, opportunity, or intent.35 ER 404(b) evidence of violence is 

admissible to explain a victim's delay in reporting sexual abuse and to rebut the 

suggestion that the failure to report implies that the abuse did not occur. 36 

Based on the parties' pretrial arguments, the court admitted three specific 

incidents involving firearms and violence that L.S.M. and Annaka described in 

i,nterviews. As with the evidence of prior sexual abuse, the State relied on these 

incidents to explain, in part, why L.S.M. did not report the abuse while it was 

ongoing. Specifically, the court admitted evidence about two incidents L.S.M. 

34 ER 404(b); State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). 
35 ER 404(b). 
36 State v. Wilson, 60 Wn. App. 887, 891, 808 P.2d 754 (1991). 
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witnessed in which Greer assaulted Annaka, hurled abuse at her, made violent 

threats, and brandished weapons. The court admitted a separate incident in which 

Greer, holding a firearm, asked L.S.M. if she had ever been "pistol whipped."37 

First, Greer argues that the trial court's admission of these incidents to 

explain delay in reporting was inconsistent with its admission of L.S.M.'s 

disclosure to her aunt as a timely complaint under the hue and cry doctrine. In 

other words, Greer claims that the court found there was no delay in reporting and 

therefore, the ER 404(b) evidence was not admitted for any relevant purpose. 

Greer is mistaken. As explained, because L.S.M. did not report any abuse while 

the abuse was ongoing, for almost a year, the court admitted evidence that was 

relevant to explain that delay. However, the court determined that after Greer left 

the household, L.S.M. made a timely complaint. The court's rulings were 

consistent. 

Second, relying on State v. Fisher,38 Greer claims the court erred by 

allowing admission of the ER 404(b) evidence without regard to whether or not he 

first made an issue of delay. But while the trial court in Fisher ruled that ER 404(b) 

evidence would be admissible only if the defense first raised the issue of the 

victim's delayed reporting, nothing in Fisher required the trial court here to similarly 

condition the admission of the evidence. Moreover, when pressed by the trial 

.court, the defense acknowledged that the timing of disclosures would be a relevant 

37 RP (Feb. 27, 2018) at 813. 
38 165 Wn.2d 727,745,202 P.3d 937 (2009). 
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issue, as would the circumstances and people who the victim had access to prior 

to those disclosures. The court did not abuse its discretion.39 

Conditions of Community Custody 

Greer chaHenges four conditions of community custody imposed at 

sentencing. 

Sentencing courts have authority to impose crime-related prohibitions and 

affirmative conditions of community custody.40 A crime-related prohibition directly 

relates to the crime of conviction. 41 "[B]ecause the imposition of crime-related 

prohibitions is necessarily fact-specific and based upon the sentencing judge's in­

person appraisal of the trial and the offender, the appropriate standard of review 

[is] abuse of discretion.42 The State need not establish that the prohibited conduct. 

directly caused the offense.43 "So long as it is reasonable to conclude that there is 

a sufficient connection between the prohibition and the crime of conviction, we will 

not disturb the sentencing court's community custody conditions."44 

39 Because we conclude that Greer has failed to establish any error with 
respect to his trial, his claim of cumulative error likewise fails. 

40 RCW 9.94A.030(1), .703. 
41 RCW 9.94A.030(10). 
42 In re Pers. Restraint of Rainey, 168 Wn.2d 367, 374-75, 229 P.3d 686 

(2010). 
43 State v. Nguyen, 191 Wn.2d 671, 685, 425 P.3d 847 (2018). 
44 ilt. at 685-86. 
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No Sexual Contact 

Greer first challenges condition number 5, that he "[i]nform the supervision 

[community corrections officer (CCO)] and sexual deviancy treatment provider of 

any dating relationship. Disclose sex offender status prior to sexual contact. 

Sexual contact in a relationship is prohibited until the treatment provider approves 

of such."45 Greer contends the prohibition on sexual contact in a relationship 

without prior approval of a CCO or treatment provider is not crime-related. The 

State concedes that the prohibition is not related to Greer's offenses. We accept 

the State's concession and remand for the sentencing court to strike the 

prohibition. 

No Contact with Minors 

Greer next challenges condition number 16, which prohibits all "direct 

and/or indirect contact with minors."46 Greer claims the court abused its discretion 

by imposing this condition as it prohibits all contact with his own biological children 

and is not narrowly tailored and lacks an explanation as to why prohibiting such 

contact is necessary to realize a compelling state interest.47 

Although the State argues that Greer waived any claim of error by failing to 

object, conditions of community custody may be challenged for the first time on 

45 Clerk's Papers (CP) at 85. 
46 CP at 86. 
47 According to the testimony at trial, Greer has at least four biological 

children. 
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appeal.48 Because Greer has a fundamental constitutional right to parent, the 

sentencing court's discretion to impose conditions that interfere with that right is 

subject to limitations.49 '"Conditions that interfere with fundamental rights must be 

"sensitively imposed" and "reasonably necessary" to accomplish the essential 

needs of the State and public order."'50 The sentencing court's obligation to 

sensitively impose a restriction on a fundamental right "is not satisfied merely 

because, at some point and for some duration, the restriction is reasonably 

necessary to serve the State's interests."51 

In In re Personal Restraint of Rainey, our Supreme Court struck down a 

lifetime no-contact order prohibiting Rainey from all contact with his child when the 

sentencing court did not articulate any reasonable necessity for the lifetime 

duration of that order.52 Recognizing the "fact-specific nature of the inquiry," the 

court remanded to the trial court for resentencing so that the court could "address 

the parameters of the no-contact order under the 'reasonably necessary' 

standard."53 

48 State v. Wallmullar, _Wn.2d _, 449 P.3d 619,621 (2019); State v. 
Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 744, 193 P.3d 678 (2008). 

49 See Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 753, 102 S. Ct. 1388, 71 L. Ed. 
2d 599 (1982) (parents have a fundamental liberty interest in the care, custody, 
and control of their children). 

50 Rainey, 168 Wn.2d at 377 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting 
State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 32, 195 P.3d 940 (2008)). 

51 & at 381. 
52 168 Wn.2d at 381-82. 
53 & at 382. 
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Although the condition at issue here is not a lifetime no-contact order, the 

parameters of a condition affecting a parent's fundamental right to the care, 

custody, and companionship of his minor children must still be addressed. "The 

question is whether, on the facts of this case, prohibiting all contact with [the 

defendant's minor children], including indirect or supervised contact, is reasonably 

necessary to realize [a compelling State interest]."54 In order for a condition 

prohibiting all contact with biological children to be constitutionally valid, "[t]here 

must be no reasonable alternative way to achieve the State's interest."55 

It is not clear whether the sentencing court here intended to prohibit all 

contact with minors. At sentencing, the court orally indicated that in addition to 

ordering no contact with L.S.M., it would order no contact with minors "without the 

supervision of a responsible adult who has knowledge of this conviction and the 

sentencing order of the [c]ourt."56 That condition is not set forth in the judgment 

and sentence. The record is unclear as to the intended scope and lacks an 

explanation whether a blanket prohibition on all contact is reasonably necessary to 

realize the compelling State interest in protecting children from harm. 

The requirements of Rainey and related cases were not brought to the 

court's attention, and there is nothing in the record to suggest that the court 

recognized the limits on its authority and the need to apply the "reasonably 

54 kl at 379. 
55 Warren, 165 Wn .2d at 34-35. 
56 RP (Apr. 13, 2018) at 1210-11. 
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necessary" standard. Accordingly, we strike the sentencing condition prohibiting 

contact with all minors and remand to the trial court to consider whether prohibiting 

Greer from all contact with his children is reasonably necessary under the 

principles discussed above. 

Urinalysis/Breath Analysis 

Greer next challenges condition number 12, which requires him to "[b]e 

available for and submit to urinalysis and/or breath analysis upon request of the 

CCO and/or the chemical dependency treatment provider."57 

The sentencing court imposed a standard condition requiring Greer to 

refrain from possessing or consuming controlled substances except where lawfully 

prescribed.58 The court also imposed a discretionary condition prohibiting Greer 

from consuming alcohol. 59 Greer does not challenge the imposition of either of 

these conditions. 

Nevertheless, Greer contends condition number 12 is not related to his 

offense of conviction and violates his privacy interests under article I, section 7 of 

the Washington Constitution.60 He argues that drug and alcohol testing is 

constitutional only where it promotes rehabilitation, as where the defendant has 

57 CP at 86. 
58 See RCW 9.94A.703(2)(c) (condition shall be imposed unless waived by 

the court). 
59 See RCW 9.94A.703(3)(e) (permits court to prohibit offenders from 

possessing or consuming alcohol). 
60 WASH. CONST. art. I, § 7 provides, in relevant part: "No person shall be 

disturbed in his [or her] private affairs ... without authority of law." 
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been convicted of a drug offense or an offense of driving under the influence 

(DUI). The State argues that because the court lawfully prohibited Greer's use of 

drugs and alcohol, it may require him to submit to urinalysis and breath analysis to 

monitor compliance with these conditions of sentence. 

Both parties rely on State v. Olsen, in which the Washington State Supreme 

Court upheld suspicionless urinalysis for probationers convicted of DUl. 61 Our 

Supreme Court held that individuals on probation do not forfeit all expectations of 

privacy in exchange for their release into the community. 62 While the State may 

closely supervise to advance the probation system's goals of promoting 

rehabilitation and protecting public safety, its authority is subject to limits.63 The 

State may infringe upon individuals' privacy interest "only to the extent 

'necessitated by the legitimate demands of the operation of the [community 

supervision] process.'"64 

The court in Olsen held that the intrusion on probationers' privacy interests 

is only lawful when narrowly tailored to meet a compelling State interest.65 

Requiring random urinalyses was permissible in Olsen because the State has a 

significant interest in supervising probationers when the condition was narrowly 

61 189Wn.2d 118,134,399 P.3d 1141 (2017). 
62 & at 125. 
63 & at 128-29. 
64 & at 125 (quoting State v. Parris, 163 Wn. App. 110, 117,259 P.3d 331 

(2011)). 
65 & at 127-28. 
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tailored to address the specific offense of conviction. 66 The court stated that 

"random UAs [urinalyses], under certain circumstances, are a constitutionally 

permissible form of close scrutiny of DUI probationers."67 

Central to the holding of Olsen was the State's compelling interest in 

monitoring the rehabilitation of DUI offenders to assess their progress toward 

rehabilitation and compliance with treatment.68 Because Olsen was convicted of 

"a crime involving the abuse of drugs and alcohol," she could "expect to be 

monitored for consumption of drugs and alcohol, but should not necessarily expect 

broader-ranging intrusions that expose large amounts of private information 

completely unrelated to the offense."69 

Olsen does not support the general proposition that suspicionless breath 

analysis and urinalysis is constitutional to monitor conditions imposed under RCW 

9.94A.703(2) and (3) that need not be crime-related. Greer was not convicted of a 

drug or DUI offense. The State points to L.S.M.'s testimony about two occasions 

when Greer furnished drugs and alcohol to her and argues that this evidence 

would support the imposition of crime-related conditions prohibiting Greer's 

consumption of drugs and alcohol.70 But even if true, this does not establish that 

66 !slat 128-29. 
67 .!sL at 134. 
68 !slat 128-29. 
69 .!sL at 133. 
70 L.S.M. testified about a time when Greer gave her a pill from a "party 

pack," which he described as a "mood enhancer." RP (Feb. 27, 2018) at 841. 
After taking it, L.S.M. drove around with Greer and felt "good.'' .!sL L.S.M. recalled 
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Greer, like Olsen, could expect infringement on his privacy rights in order to 

monitor compliance with conditions that do not relate to essential facts of his 

conviction and are not causally connected to the crimes of conviction. 71 In 

contrast to the circumstances in Olsen, breath analysis and urinalysis testing 

would not necessarily reveal anything about Greer's progress or rehabilitation with 

respect to the crimes of conviction because there was no evidence of his use of 

drugs and alcohol that was connected to the assaults. 

We conclude that condition number 12 is neither narrowly tailored nor 

reasonably necessary to achieve a compelling state interest and must be stricken. 

Areas Where Children's Activities Occur 

Finally, Greer argues that condition number 18, which bars him from 

entering locations where children's activities regularly occur, is unconstitutionally 

vague. Condition number 18 requires him to 

[s]tay out of areas where children's activities regularly occur or are 
occurring. This includes parks used for youth activities, schools, 
daycare facilities, playgrounds, wading pools, swimming pools being 
used for youth activities, play areas (indoor or outdoor), sports fields 
being used for youth sports, arcades, and any specific location 
identified in advance by [the Department of Corrections] or CCO.t72l 

another instance when she smoked "weed," and Greer provided an alcoholic drink. 
kl at 841-82. She testified that there was no physical contact on these occasions. 

71 See Nguyen, 191 Wn.2d at 683, 685. 
72 CP at 86. 
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Due process guarantees that laws not be vague, meaning that citizens must 

be afforded fair warning of proscribed conduct.73 A condition of community 

custody is unconstitutionally vague if it does not provide ordinary people fair 

warning of the proscribed conduct and does not have standards that are definite 

enough to protect against arbitrary enforcement.74 "Unconstitutional vagueness" 

means that persons of ordinary intelligence must guess as to the proscribed 

conduct.75 If persons of ordinary intelligence can understand what the condition 

proscribes, notwithstanding some possible areas of disagreement, the condition is 

sufficiently definite.76 

Greer contends the phrase "areas where children's activities regularly 

occur" is unconstitutionally vague because it is not clear with respect to physical 

distance or as to what constitutes a regular occurrence. He also claims the 

condition is unconstitutionally vague because it is unclear whether the terms 

"youth" and "children" are synonymous. 

Our Supreme Court recently rejected a vagueness challenge with respect to 

a community custody condition similar to the one at issue here.77 The condition at 

issue provided that "[t]he defendant shall not loiter in nor frequent places where 

73 U.S. CONST. amend. XIV, § 1; WASH. CONST. art. 1. § 3. 
74 See State v. Irwin, 191 Wn. App. 644, 652-53, 364 P.3d 830 (2015). 
75 City of Spokane v. Douglass, 115 Wn.2d 171, 179, 795 P.3d 693 (1990). 
76 See Bahl, 164 Wn.2d at 752-54. 
77 Wallmuller, 449 P.3d at 620. 
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children congregate such as parks, video arcades, campgrounds, and shopping 

malls."78 

ConcludiQg that this condition is not unconstitutionally vague, the court 

relied in large part on the "overwhelming consensus among federal courts" 

addressing similar conditions and "uniformly" upholding conditions barring 

offenders from places frequented by children in conjunction with a nonexclusive 

illustrative list of examples.79 The court concluded that where a list of examples 

elucidates a general phrase, such as "where children congregate," the restrictive 

condition, read as a whole, provides fair notice of the prohibited conduct.80 Noting 

that due process does not require "impossible standards of specificity," the court 

concluded that language which may be vague standing alone becomes 

"sufficiently specific" when clarified by a list of examples to illustrate the scope. 81 

Condition number 18 provides a level of detail that withstands constitutional 

scrutiny under Wallmuller. The phrase "areas where children's activities regularly 

occur or are occurring" in the first sentence modifies a lengthy illustrative list of 

prohibited locations in the second sentence. "Areas where children's activities 

regularly occur" is no less precise than "places where children congregate." Read 

78 ill 
79 ill at 622. 
80 ill at 623 (quoting United States v. Paul, 274 F.3d 155, 167 (5th Cir. 

2001)). 
81 ill (quoting City of Seattle v. Eze, 111 Wn.2d 22, 26-27, 759 P.2d 366 

(1988)). 
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in a "commonsense" manner, the language is specific enough so that a person of 

ordinary intelligence can understand the scope of the prohibition. 82 Condition 

number 18 is not unconstitutionally vague. 

We remand for the sentencing court to strike that portion of condition 

number 5 prohibiting sexual contact in a relationship and to strike condition 

number 12 in its entirety. We remand for the court to strike condition number 16 

and impose a new condition after reconsideration consistent with this opinion. We 

otherwise affirm the convictions and sentence. 

WE CONCUR: 

82 Wallmuller, 449 P.3d at 624. 
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